

TOWN OF BRADFORD

NEW HAMPSHIRE 03221



TELEPHONE 603 938-5900

Select Board TOWN OF BRADFORD, NEW HAMPSHIRE RULES OF PROCEDURE

The Select Board of the Town of Bradford, New Hampshire adopts the following Rules of Procedure:

Article 1 - Title; Adoption; Amendment

- 1.1 These rules may be cited as the Bradford Select Board Rules of Procedure. These rules have been adopted to provide guidance, organization and consistency for present and future board members, as well as to facilitate openness of meetings for the public. They are not, however, intended to create rights in third parties in the event of variance from these rules.
- 1.2 These rules shall be adopted following a public hearing by the Select Board. The hearing shall be noticed by a legal notice posted not less than seven (7) days prior to the hearing and said notice shall contain a summary of the provisions herein, together with the notation that the full text is available upon request.
- 1.3 The rules shall be effective upon adoption by a majority of the Board and when they have been signed by a majority of the Board and filed with the office of the Town Clerk.
- 1.4 These rules may be amended in the same manner as the initial adoption.
- 1.5 The Select Board may waive these rules of procedure contained herein when the Board deems it appropriate.

Article 2 - Membership; Terms of Office, Officers, Vacancies

- 2.1 Pursuant to RSA 41:8, the Select Board shall consist of three (3) members.
- 2.2 Terms of the office shall run in accordance with RSA 41:8.
- 2.3 The Select Board shall elect the Chairman annually at their first meeting after the Annual Town Meeting.
- 2.4 The Select Board shall appoint annually a Board member or other individual to serve as the Select Board's ex-officio member on the Planning Board and Budget Committee.

Select Board Rules of Procedure - Approved 328/2072

Page 1 of 6

OFFICE OF

- 2.5 The ex-officio representatives to the Planning Board and Budget Committee shall be elected for one-year terms at the first regular meeting following the Annual Town Meeting, provided all members of the Board have been sworn into office.
- 2.6 The Select Board shall form standing or ad-hoc committees to facilitate conducting the business of the town.
- 2.7 Vacancies in the membership of the Select Board shall be filled by appointment by the remaining members to a term which expires at the next Annual Town Meeting.

Article 3 - Duties of Officers; Minutes

- 3.1 The Chairman shall preside over all meetings and shall be responsible for the conduct and decorum of the meeting. The Chairman shall have the responsibility to ensure that all parties receive a full and fair hearing before the Board and enforcement of the rules herein and applicable state laws.
- 3.2 Minutes of the Board meetings shall be kept in accordance with the provisions of RSA 91-A. Minutes will contain the names of members present, other people participating in the meeting, a brief summary of the subject matter discussed, and any final decisions reached, or action taken. The minutes will indicate the names of participating members of the public. Minutes shall be considered a summary of events and business transacted once adopted by the Board with any corrections noted. Minutes shall be posted on the Town's web site.

Article 4 - Meeting, Special Meetings, Place; Hours

- 4.1 The Board regularly holds meetings on Monday evenings, except that the Board may set other dates by majority vote.
- 4.2 Special meetings of the Board shall be held at the call of the Chairman or written request of a majority of the Board members.
- 4.3 Regular or special meetings of the Board may be recessed to a time and place certain as a continuation of said meeting without further notice.
- 4.4 All meetings of the Board shall be held at a publicly noticed location.
- 4.5 Regular meetings of the Board shall commence at an agreed upon time that allows for appropriate notice to the public.

Article 5 - Quorums; Voting; Conduct of Meetings

- 5.1 A quorum of two (2) members shall be required to conduct business. In accordance with the provisions of RSA 91-A:2 III, participation by members of the Board by electronic or other means of communication is authorized.
- 5.2 An affirmative vote of a majority of members voting on a question shall be sufficient for adoption of the question. Members of the Board present (in accordance the provisions of with Section 5.1 including those participating by electronic or other means of communication) shall be counted to determine whether a quorum is present if they abstain from voting affirmatively or negatively.

Persons abstaining shall not be considered "members voting" in determining whether a question has been adopted.

- When a vote on a question is evenly divided, the question shall be deemed to have been defeated. 5.3
- 5.4 A motion to reconsider a previous vote by the Board shall be in order only if made by member who voted with the prevailing side.
- Non-public sessions will be conducted pursuant to RSA 91-A:3 II and pursuant to a motion 5.5 properly made and seconded. The motion will state the specific exemption in RSA 91-A:3 II that is relied upon as the purpose for the non-public session. All discussions and decisions made during the session will be confined to matters set out in the motion. The vote on the motion will be by roll call with a simple majority required.
- 5.6 The Board shall agree on the order of the business to be conducted at each meeting.
- 5.7 The Chairman shall establish such rules of parliamentary procedure as are necessary, subject to the provision that the Chairman may be overruled by a majority vote of the Board.

Article 6 - Sitewalks

- A sitewalk is defined as a visit by the Board or member of the Board to a location which is the 6.1 subject of business before the Board, where the visit is in the company of the owner or their agent or employees and involves going onto the property or visiting areas which are not customarily available for public inspection. (This does not include a view of a site from adjoining public highways or other observations that can be made without entering the property).
- 6.2 When the Board deems it necessary for the adequate consideration of a matter, the Board shall request the property owner to allow a sitewalk by the Board.
- When the Select Board schedules a site walk for the majority of the Board's membership, it shall 6.3 be posted as a meeting in accordance with RSA 91-A.
- The Board shall ask the property owner where it deems a sitewalk is advisable as to whether 6.4 members of the public at large may accompany Board members. While the Board shall have the authority to conduct sitewalks where general public permission is not granted, such refusal may constitute grounds for the Board to decline to conduct a sitewalk.
- 6.5 The practice of a property owner directly calling a member to invite that member to visit a property without prior Board notice shall be discouraged as an inappropriate course of conduct.
- When the Board meets to consider an issue the Board and/or individual members of the Board 6.6 shall disclose whether they have conducted a sitewalk on the location under consideration.
- Minutes of sitewalks shall be kept only if there is a quorum of the Board conducting the sitewalk. 6.7

Select Board Rules of Procedure - Approved 328/2072

Page 3 of 6

Article 7 – Joint Meetings with other Boards of the Town

- 7.1 Joint meetings of the Board of Select Board and other Boards or Commissions of the Town shall be presided over by the Chairman of the Board or Commission who called the joint meeting.
- 7.2 A quorum of the membership of each Board shall be required in order to conduct a joint meeting.
- 7.3 The Board or Committee that is hosting the joint meeting shall be responsible for keeping minutes of that meeting.

Article 8 – Public Hearings

8.1 The Board shall follow the provisions for holding all public hearings required by New Hampshire State Statute or Town Ordinance.

Article 9 – Standards of Conduct

- 9.1 The primary obligation of Selectman is to serve the public interest, and to conduct himself/herself so as to maintain public confidence in the Select Board and the conduct of its business.
- 9.2 Members shall not directly or indirectly solicit, accept, or receive any gift(s) (whether in money, services, loans, travel, entertainment, hospitality, premises or in some other form), under circumstances in which it could be reasonably inferred that the gift(s) was intended to influence them on the performance of their duties or was intended as a reward for any recommendation or decision on their part.
- 9.3 To avoid conflict of interest or even the appearance of impropriety, any member who may receive some private benefit from a board decision must not participate in that decision. The private benefit may be direct or indirect; create a material personal gain or provide an advantage to relations, friends, groups or association that hold a significant share of the official's loyalty. An official with a conflict of interest must make that interest public, abstain from voting on the matter, and except as specified below, leave the table or podium area when Board members deliberate and vote on a matter. Further, the Board member may not discuss the matter privately with any other Board member or otherwise communicate directly or indirectly with Board members regarding the matter in question so as to attempt to influence the vote on said matter.
- 9.4 In circumstances where the number of Board members who may not participate in a given decision (as a result of the provisions of Article 9.3) results in less than a quorum being able to participate in a given decision, there cannot be a vote on a decision with less than two participating members. All votes will be postponed until there are two voting members present. Only for the purpose of being counted for the presence of a quorum shall they be entitled to sit at the podium, provided that the board member(s) does not participate, comment, or make any indication of his/her position.
- 9.5 A Board member must not disclose or improperly use information obtained in the course of his duties for financial gain or to further a personal interest.
- 9.6 All Board members share a responsibility to enforce adherence to the standards of conduct herein. If a member believes that one or more members may either by intention or inadvertence be in violation of these standards, that fact shall be called to the attention of the Chairman who shall in

Select Board Rules of Procedure - Approved 328/2022

turn call it to the attention of the member in question. In the event of a dispute as to whether a member should or should not participate, the question shall be posed to the Board. Such vote shall be advisory and non-binding and cannot be requested by anyone other than a Board member.

Article 10 – Agenda Management

- 10.1 The purpose of agenda management is to allow for the conducting of efficient and effective meetings and providing elected officials with an informed decision-making process.
- 10.2 To advance that goal, the Select Board's Office must be in receipt of any requests from the general public or department heads by noon on the Thursday preceding the next business meeting to be considered for inclusion on the upcoming meeting agenda. Documents or supplementary material concerning the request must also be received no later than noon on the Thursday preceding the business meeting for which the matter is scheduled.
- 10.3 The Town Administrator shall be authorized to exercise discretion and judgment in scheduling agenda requests with the goal of efficient and effective board operations. Requests may be referred to appropriate departments or boards to allow investigation or development of background material to facilitate the Board's decision-making process prior to being scheduled on the agenda.
- 10.4 Attempts will be made to publish meeting agendas by the end of the business day on Friday for the next week's meeting. Publication can be found on the Town's website. The agenda may be revised.
- 10.5 Agenda packets (agenda memo and supplemental information packet provided to the Board, excluding any documents exempt from disclosure) may be obtained upon request in accordance with the provisions of RSA 91-A subject to the Town's standard copy charges. Staff will strive to meet requests received prior to the scheduled meeting. The purpose of this rule is to allow for the packet to be assembled and copied in advance of a meeting and not take time away from the agenda preparation process or meeting's purpose which is to conduct the business of the Board.
- 10.6 The Board may vote to suspend the rules concerning agenda management upon majority vote. Nothing contained in this Article 10 shall preclude the Board from considering issues that are not on the agenda.
- 10.7 The purpose of the agenda item entitled "Public Input" is to allow members of the public to bring issues of concern to the Board which are not on that evening's agenda. This is not the opportunity for public complaint about a Town employee. Those complaints should instead be submitted in writing to the Town Administrator so that it may be directed to the employee's supervisor or the Board of Selectmen for investigation and a decision on whether any disciplinary action is appropriate. During "Public Input" members of the public shall be granted <u>three</u> minutes to speak, with additional time able to be granted by the Chair. For the purposes of this section, the public shall include residents or taxpayers in Bradford. Others may be granted the opportunity to speak as authorized by consensus of the Board. The public input period is an opportunity for members of the public to speak. It is not a question and answer session with the public body. Only one person will speak at a time, and no one speaks until recognized by the chair. Issues raised by the public under the agenda item "Public Input" will be placed on the agenda of another business

Select Board Rules of Procedure - Approved 3 28 2072

meeting as a new business item unless a majority of the Select Board vote to suspend the agenda management rules and address the item(s) of concern immediately.

- 10.8 Board agendas shall include (on a rotating basis and at least quarterly) written reports and oral presentations by department heads for the purpose of informing the Select Board (and public) on department activities and issues pertaining to a department requiring decision making by the Board.
- 10.9 Budgeted expenditures shall be reviewed on a periodic basis.

BRADFORD SELECT BOARD

Marlene Freyler, Chairman electman Mary Ellen Pfeifle.

Beth Downs, Selectman

Select Board Rules of Procedure – Approved

28/2022